FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/19/2020 3:44 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/24/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 983I8-6	CLER
SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	
-	
No. 78753-5-I	
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON	
STATE CONSTRUCTION, INC., Petitioner	
v .	
CITY OF SAMMAMISH, a governmental entity,	

CITY OF SAMMAMISH, a governmental entity,
PORTER BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Washington
Corporation, HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a
Corporation, and Bond No. 52BCSDL1582, Respondents

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents issues of first impression, requires statutory construction of ambiguous and conflicting laws, and the Court of Appeals decision adversely affects the due process rights of every contractor, subcontractor, and materialman working on public projects in Washington. If the Court of Appeals decision remains, the precedent will preclude subcontractors and materialmen working on public projects from being fully compensated from the retainage trust fund whenever the public body back-dates "completion of the contract work" by more than 45 days when accepting the project. The primary issue in this Petition for Review is the statutory construction and practical application of RCW 60.28.011.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

State Construction, Inc. ("State") is the Petitioner herein. State is a licensed excavation and grading subcontractor that performed work on a public project and was not paid its from the retainage fund.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On January 13, 2020, the Court of Appeals, Division One, issued an unpublished decision in this matter, which affirmed the King County Superior Court's dismissal of Petitioner's retainage and bond recovery

lawsuit against Respondent and others. The January 13, 2020, decision was published on February 19, 2020, and is the subject of this Petition for Review. A copy of the Slip Opinion is attached hereto as "Appendix A."

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether a subcontractor's notice of claim against the retainage fund is timely when a subcontractor files its notice of claim within 45 days of the public body's acceptance of the project, but the acceptance back-dates the project as "substantially completed" 10 months prior to the acceptance, and the notice of claim is filed well before the public body files a "Notice of Completion" with the state agencies?
- 2. Whether a public body violates the due process rights of a subcontractor on a public project when the public body back-dates the date of "completion of the contract work" by 10 months, precluding the subcontractor from making a timely claim to the retainage fund?
- 3. Whether an assignee of a statutory retainage trust fund may recover attorneys' fees and costs in a bond and retainage recovery lawsuit when RCW 60.28.030 only allows attorney's fees to the claimant?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May 2014, Porter Brothers Construction ("Porter Brothers")

entered into a construction contract ("prime contract") with the city of Sammamish ("City") to serve as the general contractor on a large public works project building the Sammamish Community and Aquatic Center ("Project"). CP 110-117. State entered into a subcontract with Porter Brothers to perform the grading, excavation, and utility work on the Project. CP 52.

As construction took place, the City withheld payment of five percent (5%) of the monies owed to Porter Brothers pursuant to the prime contract and the retainage statute, RCW 60.28.011. CP 85. The City deposited the retained funds into a trust account with Heritage Bank, with the funds to be used for final payment to Porter Brothers and any subcontractors or materialmen with payment claims, as well as certain state agencies¹, upon completion of the contract. CP 85. Porter Brothers also purchased a "Public Works Contract Bond" from Respondent Hartford Fire Insurance Company ("Hartford") to act as surety and ensure the faithful performance of the prime contract, including making payment to the subcontractors on the project. CP 144.

Early in the Project, Porter Brothers fell into financial trouble. CP

¹ Department of Revenue, Employment Security Department, and Department of Labor and Industries.

198; CP 220. Porter Brothers was purportedly "unable to meet its past, present, and future financial obligations" to its creditors. CP 98. The surety on the project, Hartford, was also one of Porter Brothers' creditors. CP 196. In order to satisfy previous debts to Hartford, on November 3, 2015, Porter Brothers assigned all of its assets, including its contractual right to the retainage fund, to Hartford². CP 229. The assignment stated, in part, "[a]ny and all future moneys or payments which may be received by the Assignor to which the Surety is entitled under and by reason of this Assignment shall be immediately delivered in kind to Surety without commingling." *Id.* Porter Brothers also assigned its right to receive any payment to Hartford on five additional public projects. CP 224-229.

State completed its grading, excavation, and utility work on the Project by June of 2016. CP 55.³ Porter Brothers paid State approximately ninety five percent of the subcontract price owed to State, with the final five percent retained by the City in trust. CP 53.

On February 21, 2017, the City of Sammamish City Council entered a Resolution stating, "The City of Sammamish hereby accepts the Sammamish Community & Aquatic Center project as complete." CP 146.

² Porter Brothers' indebtedness to Hartford was based in part on the special verdict in the *Kenco Construction, Inc. v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, et. al. case, King County Superior Court, Cause No. 15-9-19762-8. CP 199;CP 215.

³ State's later work on the Project included irrigation systems and punch-list items.

Within a "whereas" clause, the City stated that "the project was substantially completed by the contractor on April 1, 2016," which was more than ten months *before* the City's public Resolution. CP 146-147; attached hereto as "Appendix B." The Resolution further stated "[t]he Deputy City Manager is hereby authorized to complete the contract closure process upon receiving appropriate clearances from the Department of Revenue, the Department of Labor and Industries and the Department of Employment Security." CP 146.

Neither Porter Brothers, nor the City, nor Hartford notified State of the City's Resolution accepting the Project. More importantly, nobody notified State of the April 1, 2016, date where the Project was deemed, in a "whereas" clause, to have been "substantially completed." State performed some work on the Project after April 1, 2016. CP 55. Porter Brothers' other subcontractors were still "performing work under the contract through February 2017...," and warranty work was still bing completed after the City's February 21, 2017 Resolution. CP 129. Five percent of the State's subcontract price, \$199,205.66, which was held in trust by the City to be paid to State upon "completion of the contract work," was not paid. RCW 60.28.011(2). CP 54.

In late March 2017, an employee of Porter Brothers informed State

that its lien claim periods were about to expire. CP 54. On March 24, 2017, State mailed a "Fourth⁴ Amended Notice of Claim of Lien Against Bond and Retained Percentage" ("Notice of Claim") to the City, which the City received on March 27, 2017, 34 days after the City's Resolution accepting the project. CP 162. On April 13, 2017, the City filed the "Notice of Completion of Public Works Contract" ("Notice of Completion") with the state agencies⁵. CP 335.

Despite State's Notice of Claim, which State filed 34 days after the City's acceptance of the Project and 20 days before the City filed the Notice of Completion with the state agencies, State was never paid its final five percent from the retainage fund. CP 53. A dozen other subcontractors were also not paid their share of the retainage fund, with the unpaid retainage fund totaling more than \$1.3 million. CP 85-91.

On April 28, 2017, State filed the underlying bond and retainage recovery action in King County Superior Court, making claims against Porter Brothers, the City, and Hartford. CP 1. On March 9, 2018, the Superior Court entered a Stipulated Judgment in favor of State against Porter Brothers in the amount of \$199,205.66, representing the unpaid

⁴ While the notice was titled "Fourth Amended Notice of Lien Against Bond and Retained Percentage," it was, in fact, the first notice that had been sent to the City.

⁵ A public body is prohibited from distributing the retainage funds until after it files a Notice of Completion with the state agencies. See RCW 60.28.051

amount still owed to State under the subcontract⁶. CP 58. Because Porter Brothers is insolvent, none of the Stipulated Judgment was paid.

In May 2018, State and Hartford filed cross-motions for summary judgment. CP 10; CP 131. The trial court granted Hartford's Motion for Summary Judgment⁷. CP 508. As part of the trial court's Order Granting Summary Judgment, following the typed phrase "Attorney fees and costs," the judge wrote "are not awarded to any party consistent with the American rule, and on this record." CP 512. Despite the trial court declining to award attorney's fees, Hartford later brought a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, which State opposed. CP 522-531. Meanwhile, State filed the present appeal with the Court of Appeals. CP 513-521. On November 2, 2018, months after the appeal had been filed, the trial court inexplicably granted Hartford's Motion for Attorney Fees. CP 532.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Summary of Argument.

RCW 60.28.011 requires all public bodies to establish retainage funds on public works projects wherein the public body is to withhold five

⁶ State has been unable to collect on the Stipulated Judgment as a result of Porter Brothers having assigned all of its assets to Hartford.

⁷ The Superior Court did not explicitly deny State's summary judgment motion. However, because granting Hartford's motion was dispositive on the same issues, the trial court effectively denied State's motion *sub silentio*.

percent of the total cost of the project for the eventual payment to the contractor, subcontractors, materialmen, and certain state agencies upon completion of the project. RCW 60.28.011(1)(a); WAC 458-20-217(7). The retainage is "a trust fund for the protection and payment of . . . claims of any person arising under the contract," including subcontractors. RCW 60.28.011(1)(a). However, to make a claim against the retainage fund, a subcontractor must provide notice of the lien "within forty-five days of completion of the contract work. . ." RCW 60.28.011(2).

Under the retainage statute, the event that commences the 45 day notice of claim period - "completion of the contract work" - is ambiguous, particularly when applied to the realities of modern public works projects. Neither "completion" nor "contract work" are defined in the statute, and each may have a myriad of definitions in public construction projects. The ambiguity of the phrase "completion of contract work" is underscored when the general contractor is insolvent, the surety assumes construction management of the project, and the public body declares the project to be "substantially completed" more than 45 days after the fact, without providing any notice of the "completion of the contract work" to the subcontractors or materialmen providing services on the project.

B. RCW 60.28.011: "Completion of the Contract Work" May Only Occur Upon the Public Body's Acceptance of the Project.

1. The Retainage Statute Should Be Given its Intended Effect.

The retainage statute is ambiguous, and "[t]he Court's fundamental objective in construing a statute is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent." *Arborwood Idaho, LLC v. City of Kennewick*, 151 Wn.2d 359, 367, 89 P.3d 217 (2004). RCW 60.28.011 subsection (2) reads as follows:

Every person performing labor or furnishing supplies toward the completion of a public improvement contract has a lien upon moneys reserved by a public body under the provisions of a public improvement contract. However, the notice of the lien of the claimant must be given within forty-five days of *completion of the contract work*, and in the manner provided in RCW 39.08.030. [Emphasis added.]

The critical phrase in subsection (2), "completion of the contract work," is not specifically defined in the statute or the statutory scheme.

Therefore, statutory construction of the phrase is necessary.

The Washington State Legislature enacted the so called "Prompt Payment Act" ("Act")⁸ in 1992, which created RCW 60.28.011. Chapter

⁸ RCW 60.28.011, was created with Substitute House Bill 1736, "An Act Relating to payment for work of improvement on real property; adding a new section to chapter 39.76 RCW; adding new sections to chapter 60.28 RCW; adding a new section to chapter

223, Laws of 1992. The Act contains provisions for claims against construction bonds and claims against the retainage fund, both of which are intended to ensure the timely payment of subcontractors and materialmen on public works projects. RCW 60.28.011(1)(a) provides

... public improvement contracts must provide, and public bodies must reserve, a contract retainage not to exceed five percent of the moneys earned by the contractor as a trust fund for the protection and payment of: (i) The claims of any person arising under the contract; and (ii) the state with respect to taxes, increases, and penalties incurred on the public improvement project under Titles 50, 51, and 82 RCW which may be due from such contractor. [Emphasis added.]

RCW 60.28.011(12)(b) defines "person" as a "mechanic, subcontractor, or materialperson who performs labor or provides materials for a public improvement contract . . ." Petitioner is a "person" as defined by the statute. Significantly, RCW 39.04.900(2) provides "Chapter 223, Laws of 1992 is to be liberally construed to provide security for all parties intended to be protected by its provisions." [Emphasis added.]

The phrase "contract work" is used in multiple subsections of RCW 60.38.011 in a manner that indicates that the legislature did not intend "completion of the contract work" to terminate a subcontractor's

^{39.04} RCW; creating new sections; prescribing penalties; and providing an effective date."

right to payment. RCW 60.28.011(3)(a) states "[a]fter completion of all contract work other than landscaping, the contractor may request that the public body release and pay in full the amounts retained during the performance of the contract, and sixty days thereafter the public body must release and pay in full the amounts retained..." 60.28.011(3)(b) states "[s]ixty days after completion of all contract work the public body must release and pay in full the amounts retained during the performance of the contract ..." Thus, the phrase "completion of all contract work" indicates the date from which the public body must release the retainage fund to those who have worked on the project. The phrase is used to establish a date by which payment must be made by the public body, not a date establishing a period after which payment could be denied.

The Prompt Payment Act also makes it clear that the legislature intended claimants to have notice of the date commencing the bond or retainage claim notice periods. RCW 60.28.011 subsection (11) states as follows:

If the work performed by a subcontractor on the project has been completed within the first half of the time provided in the general contractor/construction manager contract for completing the work, the public body may accept the completion of the subcontract. *The public body must give public notice of this acceptance*. After a forty-five day period for giving notice of liens, and compliance with the

retainage release procedures in RCW 60.28.021, the public body may release that portion of the retained funds associated with the subcontract. Claims against the retained funds after the forty-five day period are not valid. [Emphasis added.]

Thus, where a subcontractor has completed its subcontract in the first half of a public project and the public body accepts the completion of the subcontract, the public body *must* first give notice of acceptance *and* a 45 day period in which subcontractor has the opportunity to file its claim. It defies reason that the legislature would have created procedures to ensure that subcontractors were notified and paid halfway through a public project, but that the legislature did intend to afford the same notice requirement to subcontractors at the "completion of the contract work." The only way to harmonize the notice requirement of subsection (11) with the language of subsection (2) is if "completion of the contract work" is read to occur only upon acceptance of the project by the public body. Without a notice requirement, which is inherently part of a public body's acceptance, subsection (2) would be without any practical effect.

RCW 60.28.011(3)(b)⁹ requires a public body to release the retainage fund to the general contractor within 60 days of "completion of

⁹ RCW 60.28.011(3)(b): "Sixty days after completion of all contract work the public body must release and pay in full the amounts retained during the performance of the contract subject to the provisions of chapter 39.12 RCW and this chapter."

all contract work." Therefore, the Court can determine the date that the parties objectively treated as "completion of all contract work" based on the date the City sought to release the retainage fund. The City did not seek to release the retainage funds within 60 days of April 1, 2016. However, the City did file the Notice of Completion with the state agencies within 60 days of the February 21, 2017, public acceptance. Thus, while the project may have been "substantially completed" as of April 1, 2016, "completion of all contract work" did not occur until February 21, 2017, at the earliest.

Notably, while the retainage statute itself contains the phrase "contract work" several times, subsection (2) is the only place where "contract work" is not preceded by the word "all." Given the stated intent of the Prompt Payment Act, Petitioner cannot conceive of a meaningful difference between "completion of *all* contract work" and "completion of *the* contract work." If the phrases are given different meanings, then there is no standard to distinguish between them; *i.e.* is "completion of all contract work" is 100% complete, and "completion of the contract work" is 60% or 80% or 99% or "x"% complete? Any distinction drawn between the two "completion" phrases would be wholly arbitrary. The word "completion" should be given its plain meaning.

2. The Court of Appeals' Analysis and Conclusions Were in Error.

The analysis and conclusions of the Court of Appeals were in error and should not become the seminal law in Washington interpreting and applying the retainage statute.

First, when attempting to ascertain the meaning of "completion of the contract work," the Court of Appeals conflated "completion of the contract work" with "substantial completion. "O" Nothing in the retainage statute or Prompt Payment Act suggests that "substantial completion" of a project is analogous to "completion of the contract work." Yet, the Court substituted definitions from standard AIA contract forms that were *not* part of the record in this case. Slip Op. at 3, fn. 4. Although the Court of Appeals stated it would not "import words into the statute that do not exist," that is precisely what it did. Slip Op. at 17, fn. 14. "Substantial completion," as just one of several different ways of defining project "completion," should not be adopted with no evidence that the legislature actually intended to deviate from the historical definition of "completion" for bond and retainage claim notices. Concluding that "substantial

¹⁰ "Substantial completion" is understood in the construction industry to mark the date on which the project may be used for its intended purpose, but further work typically takes place after this date. "Substantial completion" is also a date that is commonly specified in a prime contract, after which liquidated damages may apply. See RCW 4.16.310.

completion" means "completion of the contract work" was a broad overreach and not supported by law or industry practices.

Second, when attempting to ascertain the meaning of the phrase "completion of the contract work," the Court of Appeals looked at the definition of "contract" contained in RCW 39.04.010(2). While RCW 39.04.010 provides definitions related to public works projects, the statute was not modified or otherwise part of the Prompt Payment Act of 1992. Chapter 39.04 RCW is part of a separate statutory scheme, which although it addresses construction bonds, it has nothing to do with establishing or claims against retainage funds. *See* Chapter 183, Laws of 1923.

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