FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/17/2020 9:13 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98318-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF SAMMAMISH, a governmental entity, PORTER BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Washington corporation, HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a corporation, and Bond No.52BCSDL1582,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Alexander Friedrich, WSBA #6144 Paul Friedrich, WSBA #43080 William T. Hansen, WSBA #51535 Attorneys for Respondent Hartford Fire Insurance Company

Williams, Kastner & Gibbs PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, Washington 98101-2380

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

On April 28, 2017, State Construction filed a complaint naming Porter Brothers, the City, and Hartford as defendants. (CP 1). The Complaint asserted three causes of action: (1) breach of contract against Porter Brothers; (2) payment bond claim against Hartford, pursuant to RCW 39.08.030; and (3) retainage fund claim against the City, pursuant to RCW 60.28.030. *Id*.

B. The City Maintained a Retainage Trust Fund Pursuant to RCW 60.28 et seq.

As owner of the Project, the City retained "five percent of the moneys earned by the contractor as a trust fund for the protection and payment of . . . claims of any person arising under the contract." RCW 60.28.011(1). RCW 60.28.030 provides an independent statutory cause of action against the retainage fund for any person, firm, or corporation furnishing materials, supplies, or equipment to the construction project. However, RCW 60.28.011(2) imposes strict notice requirements as an absolute precondition to asserting a cause of action against the retainage fund: the claimant must file a notice of claim "within *forty-five days of completion* of the contract work." (emphasis added).

C. The City Certified the Project as Completed on April 1, 2016, and Accepted on February 21, 2017.

The City's only obligation as a statutory party to State Construction's lawsuit was to comply with the requirements of RCW 60.28.030 by certifying the following information to the trial court:

[T]he name of the contractor; the work contracted to be done; the date of the contract; the date of completion and final acceptance of the work; the amount retained; the amount of taxes certified due or to become due to the state; and all claims filed with it showing respectively the dates of filing, the names of claimants, and amounts claimed.

(emphasis added). The City fulfilled its statutory obligations by certifying the required information on May 22, 2017 (Certification), August 14, 2017 (Amended Certification), and September 14, 2017 (Second Amended Certification), and January 29, 2018 (Third Amended Certification) (collectively "RCW 60.28.030 Certifications"). (CP 308-332).

As required by RCW 60.28.030, the City certified that: (1) "[t]he date of completion is April 1, 2016"; and (2) "[t]he date of final acceptance is February 21, 2017." (CP 309; CP 322). In addition to the City's statutory certifications, the City's answer to discovery requests confirm that the date of completion was April 1, 2016. For instance, the City's answer to State Construction's Second Set of Interrogatories provides as follows:

INTERROGATORY NO. 9: What was the date of completion of the Contract Work?

ANSWER: April 1, 2016.

(CP 345).

D. State Construction's Claim against the Retainage was not Filed within 45 days of Completion.

Pursuant to RCW 60.28.011(2), a notice of claim against the retainage fund "must be [filed] within *forty-five days of completion* of the contract work." The City's RCW 60.28.030 Certifications verify that the Project was completed on April 1, 2016." (CP 309; CP 322; CP 335). In addition, the City's answers to State Construction's interrogatories confirm

that the date of completion was April 1, 2016. (CP 345; CP 361). State Construction filed its Notice of Claim on March 27, 2017 – nearly one year after the deadline for filing a notice of claim against the retainage. (CP 314; CP 326; CP 333). Accordingly, State Construction's retainage claim was untimely as matter of law.

E. Procedural History

State Construction completed filing and service of its complaint against Hartford on May 3, 2017. (Sub No. 108, Hartford Supp. CP 539). On August 29, 2017, not less than 30 days and not more than 120 days after completion of filing and service of the Complaint, Hartford served on State Construction an "offer of settlement pursuant to RCW 39.04.240 and RCW 4.84. et seq." (Sub No. 108, Hartford Supp. CP 539). Hartford's settlement offer requested that State Construction dismiss its payment bond and retainage claims no later than September 11, 2017, because they were timebarred. (Sub No. 108, Hartford Supp. CP 539). State Construction ignored and rejected Hartford's offer of settlement, among other requests for it to dismiss its untimely claims.

On January 11, 2018, State Construction filed a motion for summary judgment in which it sought a determination, as a matter of law, that its bond and retainage claims were timely. On January 12, 2018, Hartford filed a

cross motion for summary judgment to dismiss State Construction's bond and retainage claims. (CP 10-50).

On July 19, 2018, the trial court issued an "Order Re: Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment" in which it granted Hartford's motion for summary judgment and held that State Construction's bond and retainage claims were "not timely filed" and "invalid and not enforceable." (CP 508-512). As a result, State Construction recovered nothing on its claims against Hartford's bond or the retainage fund.

The trial court's July 19, 2018 Order declined to award attorney fees and costs to any party "consistent with the American rule, and on this record." (CP 512). However, the trial court did not address (and did not foreclose) either party's entitlement to attorney fees and costs pursuant to Washington's public works fee-shifting statute, RCW 39.04.240, which is an exception to the American Rule and was not before the trial court or part of the record on summary judgment.

On July 19, 2018, in a final effort to minimize the expenditure of fees and costs, Hartford offered to waive its claim for prevailing party attorney fees and costs if State Construction agreed not to pursue any further appeals or litigation. (Sub No. 108, Hartford Supp. CP 540 – 41). On July 25, 2018, State Construction rejected Hartford's offer of settlement and, surprisingly, demanded payment of \$100,000.00 within 10 business days.

(Sub No. 108, Hartford Supp. CP 541). In light of State Construction's unreasonable demand, Hartford had no choice but to file a Motion for Attorney Fees and Costs. On November 2, 2018, the trial court granted Hartford's Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs pursuant to RCW 39.04.240. (CP 532-535).

III. Grounds for Denying Review

State Construction identifies no RAP 13.4(b) grounds warranting review of the Opinion. On this basis, alone, the Court should deny review.

A. The Opinion Correctly Held that State Construction's Retainage Claim was Untimely.

State Construction asserts that the Court of Appeals committed three errors in affirming the dismissal of State Construction's retainage claim. First, State Construction argues that the Court of Appeals "conflated completion of the contract work" with "substantial completion." Petition, at p. 14. Second, State Construction argues that the Court of Appeals improperly looked at the definition of "contract" contained in RCW 39.04.010(2). *Id.*, at p. 15. Third, State Construction argues that the Court of Appeals improperly conflated the payment bond statute and the retainage statute in its analysis. *Id.*

State Construction's analysis of the Opinion is incorrect. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the dismissal of State Construction's

retainage claim because it was not filed within 45 days of the date the City certified as the date of "completion of the contract work." *See* App. No. 1, at p. 16. On that point, the Opinion stated the following:

Hartford contends State Construction's lien was not timely because it was sent almost a year after the date of substantial completion, April 1, 2016, the date the City certified as the date of 'completion of the contract work.' It again argues that the City's certification is legally conclusive and cannot be challenged factually by State Construction. We agree. State Construction is bound by the City's determination that the contract work was complete as of April 1, 2016.

Id. The Opinion affirming the dismissal of State Construction's retainage claim was based upon State Construction's failure to file notice of its lien within the statutorily required period commenced by the City's certifications – certifications which the Court of Appeals and this Court have repeatedly determined are legally conclusive and binding as a matter of law.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals' decision that the City's RCW 60.28.030 certifications are legally conclusive is based upon precedent set by this Court more than 100 years ago. In *Denny-Renton Clay & Coal Co. v. Nat'l Sur. Co.*, 93 Wash. 103, this Court held that engineer's certification was binding upon the contractor and the materialmen. *Id.*, at 110. This Court further held that the date certified by the public owner could not be undermined except by evidence of fraud or collusion. *Id.* The plaintiff did

not have evidence of fraud or collusion, and, therefore, the Court concluded that it could not rebut the certified contract completion date. *Id*; *see also* App. No. 1, at pp. 8-9.

Similarly, in *Pearson v. Puget Sound Machinery Depot*, 99 Wash. 596, this Court upheld the lower court's determination that a lien claim filed 31 days after the engineer certified completion and the project was accepted was untimely. *Id.*, at 597 – 98. The Court reiterated the precedent set by *Denny-Renton*, and held that the engineer's certification and the owner's acceptance were legally binding on the contractor. *Id.*, at 599 – 600; *see also* App. No. 1, at p. 9.

State Construction complains that the Court of Appeals improperly referred to "substantial completion" and to the AIA contract between the City and Porter Brothers in its analysis regarding the triggering date from which State Construction had 45 days to file its retainage lien. *See* Petition, at pp. 14-15. The Court of Appeals' analysis on that issue, however, was in response to State Construction's reliance on an internet summary of the law and its argument that the triggering date for its retainage claim—the date certified as the "completion of the contract work"—should be the same as the triggering date for its bond claim—the date of final acceptance. *See* App. No. 1, at pp. 16-18.

In response to State Construction's argument, the Court of Appeals determined that the public owner could deem the date of completion of the contract work to be the date of final acceptance, but that nothing in the language of the statute mandated that outcome. *See* App. No. 1, at p. 17. That analysis, however, pertains to the owner's discretion in designating the date of completion of the contract work. It does not alter the conclusion that once the owner chooses the date of "completion of the contract work," that date is legally binding upon all potential retainage claimants.

Indeed, the Court of Appeals' final statement regarding State Construction's untimely retainage lien demonstrates that the City's certification, alone, was sufficient grounds to affirm dismissal of State Construction's retainage claim, but even if it were not, State Construction's arguments do not raise a genuine issue of material fact that there should be a different date of completion:

Even if the City's certification were not legally conclusive, State Construction has not established a genuine issue of material fact that the substantial completion date provided by the City was not the date of 'completion of the contract work' for the purposes of RCW 60.28.011(2). Therefore, the contract work was completed on the Project as of April 1, 2016, and State Construction's notice of lien claim, filed on March 27, 2017, was untimely as it was not filed within the 45 days required by statute.

See App. No. 1, at p. 19.

This Court should deny review of State Construction's untimely retainage claim because it fails to meet any of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). First, the decision is not in conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. Rather, it is based upon a century of precedent set by this Court. Second, the decision does not raise significant constitutional questions, and, importantly, State Construction identifies none. Third, while public construction projects generally involve the public interest, State Construction's individualized harm arising out of its failure to comply with the requirements for filing a retainage claim does not. Contractors and other entities involved in public projects have been able to navigate the statutory requirements for obtaining liens against retainage for over a century. In fact, at least nine other entities properly filed a Notice of Claim against the retainage on this Project prior to the statutory deadline. CP 310 - 15. For all of the reasons set forth above, this Court should deny review.

B. The Opinion Correctly Held that State Construction's Procedural Due Process Rights were Not Violated.

Similar to its arguments regarding the Court of Appeals' analysis of its untimely retainage claim, State Construction fails to address how its procedural due process claim meets any of the criteria for review under RAP

13.4(b). Because the Opinion on this issue was correct, and because none of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria are present, this Court should deny review.

As recognized by the Court of Appeals, State Construction's argument regarding lack of notice ignores the fact that State Construction had multiple ways to protect its interest in the retainage:

Subcontractors have multiple ways to protect their interest in the retainage fund, including negotiating with the contractor for advance notice of the lien filing deadline, tracking the contractor's progress on the project and requesting records from the public owner as to the status of the contractor's progress, or filing lien claims regularly throughout the project.

App. No. 1, at pp. 20 – 21. Washington law clearly allows a claimant to file a lien prior to the completion of the project. *Airfco, Inc. v. Yelm Cmty. Schs. No.* 2, 52 Wn. App. 230, 232 – 34, 758 P. 2d 996 (1998); *see also Pearson*, 99 Wash. at 598 – 600; *Title Guar. & Sur. Co., v. Coffman, Dobson & Co.*, 97 Wash. 211, 213 – 15, 166 P. 620 (1917). In fact, at least nine other claimants on this Project were able to accomplish just that by filing their lien prior to the completion of the contract work. CP 310 – 315. Lack of notice is not what caused State Construction's untimely notice, it was State Construction's lack of diligence.

Moreover, as it pertains to this Project, there is no statutory or other legal requirement that the public owner notify subcontractors or

materialmen of the claim filing deadlines. In fact, this Court has expressly rejected this exact argument:

The certificate of the engineer in charge of the work and the resolution accepting the work were public records, open to the appellant and all other materialmen. It was their duty to know those records and to file their claims for material and labor within the time limit of 30 days. Not having done so, it is inconceivable how they can now be heard to say that there was fraud or arbitrary action when the records were open to them.

Pearson, 99 Wash. at 600.

Further, State Construction's reliance on RCW 60.28.011(11) is misplaced and would require the Court to ignore the first sentence of the subsection—a sentence that State Construction conveniently omitted from its Petition:

[RCW 60.28.011(11)] applies only to a public body that has contracted for the construction of a facility using the general contractor/construction manager procedure, as defined under RCW 39.10.210.

RCW 60.28.011(11). There is no evidence that this Project was contracted using the general contractor/construction manager procedure. That specific procedure separates the project into two phases—design and construction—and for that reason specifically requires notice of completed work during the first half of the project. As clearly stated in that subsection, it is not applicable to public works projects in general.

Thus, under the well-established body of Washington law governing public works projects, it was State Construction's duty to know of the claim filing deadlines and to avail itself of its right to file its notice of claim at any point during the Project to ensure that its retainage claim was timely filed. State Construction's thinly veiled arguments regarding due process rely on its misstatements of the notice requirements of RCW 60.28.011(11), and ignore the fact that State Construction had numerous procedural mechanisms available to provide timely notice of its lien. Because State Construction has nobody but itself to blame for its failure to timely file its lien, this Court should deny review.

C. The Opinion Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's Award of Attorneys' Fees to Hartford.

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